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PREFACE


It is sometimes said that there can be no such thing as an error in history, since history is concerned with what has already happened, and what has happened is forever fixed and unalterable. Only in the present is there any choice about what we do, and certainly here it is possible to make an error. What has happened in the past is settled and done with, and there is no way that we in the present can change that. But history is not solely what happened in the past; it is also the study of what happened in the past. Here it is certainly possible to make mistakes.


Errors. Either accidentally through ignorance, or deliberately through misrepresentation, we can get the facts of history wrong. If we said that Nelson was killed at the battle of Waterloo, such a statement would plainly be an error, as it would if we stated that the Allies dropped the first atomic bombs on Japan in 1941. Such errors are brought about by ignorance of the facts of history. Misrepresentation of the facts, say for purposes of propaganda – the view, for example, that during the First World War the British fleet secured an overwhelming victory at Jutland over the Germans in 1916 – would also be an error, even though it achieved wide acceptance at the time and afterwards. This was the British propaganda view of the battle, and differed significantly from the truth.


Myths. Misrepresentations also include myths and legends in history, for the borderline between error and deliberate misrepresentation is uncertain and often blurred. Sometimes what originated as a simple error has achieved a certain permanence in people’s minds because it seems appropriate – a myth perhaps even more appropriate than the truth – and therefore lives on, even after efforts have been made to correct it. This was the case with Marie Antoinette’s reported advice to the hungry Parisians in the French Revolution: ‘Let them eat cake!’ While this version of events was not true, it seemed to characterise the heartlessness and stupidity of the young Queen at that time, and in a way was actually better than the truth.


A legend, too, is something that people choose to believe whether it is true or not. The historical reputations of Davy Crockett, John Brown or General Custer in nineteenth-century American history have something of this legendary quality, or, closer to home, the reputations of people such as Florence Nightingale or Lawrence of Arabia. In all these cases the historical truth, itself already fascinating, has been elaborated upon by admirers or hagiographers, who have less regard for what actually happened and more for what should have happened, until the historical figure achieves unquestioned greatness in the popular imagination and performs the function of some moral fable or parable. A truthful account is pedestrian by comparison.


Historical controversies. These occur when historians, looking separately at sets of events that have occurred in the past, enter into a debate about the significance of these facts, arguing that their real importance is perhaps different from their surface appearance. Historians often construct different theories to explain what they believe to be the most likely course of these events, or the most likely explanation for whatever may have happened.


There was a time, for example, when historians, looking at the events which led to the political unification of Italy in the 1860s, used the facts at their disposal to argue that Cavour, the Prime Minister of Piedmont, deliberately fostered the creation of a united Italian state. Later, looking at the same facts, but this time in the light of new documentary evidence resulting from the opening up of the archives of the Gregorian University in Rome in the later 1940s and 1950s, they concluded that unification was not actually his objective at all; indeed, in a number of ways, he actually was opposed to it. This particular controversy now seems to have been settled, but no matter how apparently firm are historians’ conclusions there is no guarantee that later finds of fresh evidence – or new ways found of looking at the old evidence – will not radically alter things.


To those who argue that such controversies are purely speculative the answer should be that in history all theories and all controversies are necessarily speculative. For the facts of history do not wear labels indicating their real significance; this has to be worked out through the deductions of individual historians. Unlike science, where facts can be experimentally tested and proven, the facts of history are past facts and lie beyond experimentation. Only cosmology, where it has also so far proved impossible to manipulate the available facts, bears some resemblance to history (at least at present); here, too, widely different theories have been advanced to explain the origins of the universe.


Controversies may occur over the true significance of a character in history, or of a historical event. Was Abraham Lincoln really the champion of slave emancipation? Does the existence of the Hossbach Memorandum really prove that Hitler was planning to start the Second World War? Such views have been seriously advanced, but are they true? They are in fact no more than theories, and their reliability must be assessed. The best theory remains the theory which most simply and most comprehensively explains the facts available at the time. As theories change, however, they frequently leave behind a backlog of unadjusted thinking which this book aims to examine.


For the purpose of this book, the errors, the myths and legends and the controversies have been divided into thirteen categories, each arranged in roughly chronological order. This division may be regarded as rather arbitrary, and the distinctions between them rather fine, since some of the entries may be thought to fit into other categories, but reference to the table of contents will enable the reader to locate the entry he is looking for. The categories are:


1.Ancient Grievances. These include old grievances still rankling at the present time, though grounded on evidence which is often disputed.


2.Conspiracies and Plots. Here the argument is about what really happened in the past, and whether it involved any kind of conspiracy.


3.Heroes and Villains. Here the question revolves round some historical character, and whether our view of him as a ‘hero’ or a ‘villain’ is the right one.


4.Historical Debates. These include matters apparently already settled in agreement, but which perhaps deserve further discussion.


5.Historical Revisions. These challenge the accuracy of established historical views, providing a different view of characters or episodes in history.


6.Historical Re-evaluations. These give perhaps a new slant on characters or episodes in history, with a view to their being seen in a rather different light.


7.Political Re-evaluations. These provide a new slant on events and characters in more recent political history, with a view to reassessing their true importance.


8.International Re-evaluations. These offer a new take on developments in recent international events, with a view to reassessing their true importance.


9.Long-standing Puzzles. These offer different and perhaps novel interpretations of what have been perplexing features of past events.


10.On-going Controversies. These offer further thoughts on what have been, and continue to be, disputed verdicts on past events and people.


11.Popular Misconceptions. These deal with the kernel from which this book sprang, namely the ‘silly mistakes’ which people make in history.


12.Persistent Misrepresentations. These identify people or events in the past which have commonly been misjudged, and tries to set the record straight.


13.Unresolved Problems. These are historical questions where the ‘jury is still out’ and where satisfactory answers to important questions are still being sought.


The authors apologise in advance to any reader who feels cheated that his or her favourite error or controversy has been omitted. They do not claim either infallibility in detecting errors, or omniscience in correcting them. Nor do they claim always to be able to distinguish unfailingly an error from a misrepresentation, or a myth from a legend. Each of the authors has a lifetime’s experience as a college teacher and a chief examiner of history, and they have the red-ink stains to prove it; but while they hope that their observations may be enlightening (and even amusing), their comments have necessarily had to be limited both from the point of view of geographical and of chronological coverage. Hence this book concentrates on the historical period from the later eighteenth century – the era of the American and French Revolutions – and focuses mainly on Britain and Europe, though it contains also some material relating to the United States and the rest of the world.




1


ANCIENT GRIEVANCES


The Boston Tea Party: Did it Spark the War of American Independence?


The story of the so-called Boston Tea Party provides one of the most colourful and enduring legends relating to the War of American Independence. But its significance and importance have often been misinterpreted, and its role in bringing war to the American colonies has often been misunderstood.


By the beginning of 1773 the main issues between Britain and its American colonies were already clear. Apart from the major question of taxation, whether for revenue or trade regulation (the factor which lay at the root of the Boston Tea Party) there was also the relationship between colonial legislatures and colonial governors, the question of billeting and martial law, and whether British justice was superior to colonial justice. The whole relationship between Britain and the colonies was under challenge, and no effective compromise had yet been found. But since the Boston Massacre of March 1770 American agitation had died down, and the colonies had resumed their former practice of quarrelling with each other: there were bitter boundary disputes between New York and New Hampshire, and between New York and Pennsylvania. In the Carolinas, 6,000 frontiersmen rebelled against the coastal colonial aristocracy, and were put down with the loss of 15 lives. The British government, at the same time, thought it opportune to revive the fortunes of the East India Company by encouraging more sales of its tea in America. The Tea Act allowed the importation of tea directly into America (i.e. without having to be taken to Britain first), and removed the burdensome English duty on the tea, but retained the American duty. To avoid smuggling, the Company was to deal with named official agents. This outraged those American merchants, particularly in New York and Philadelphia, who made fortunes out of smuggling tea and other goods into America: they were now to be excluded from legitimate trading and the low duty would make smuggling unprofitable. Reviving the non-importation agreements would be very difficult – after all, most of these had broken down. The patriots in Boston concluded that the Company would have no difficulty in recruiting agents there, and that they would have no difficulty in selling the tea. In desperation, therefore, some of them dressed as Mohawk Indians, boarded the two tea ships in Boston Harbour, and discharged the contents of 298 tea chests, worth £11,000, into the sea.


Did this event cause the Revolution? Not immediately and not directly. The British government could have ignored the event as it had done the pillaging of the Gaspée the year before. But with the Gaspée the main damage done was to persons rather than property, and in the eighteenth century injury to property was always regarded as much more reprehensible than injury to persons. The British government could have left it to the Massachusetts authorities to seek out and bring to justice the perpetrators. But although it was well known in Boston who the ring-leaders were, it was highly unlikely that there was enough evidence to convince a Boston jury. Throughout most of the rest of the colonies the Tea Party was a cause of shock rather than rejoicing. Even moderate patriots thought that things in Boston had gone too far.


And there it might have rested, with both British and Americans concentrating on what united rather than what divided them. But the British government somewhat mistakenly felt that even in America some punitive action was expected, and in Britain merchants and the East India Company clamoured for retribution. Having decided that the event could not go unpunished, the British government secured the passage through parliament, not without some strenuous opposition, of a series of Acts known to all patriotic Americans as the Retaliatory Acts, and these were to form the basis of the most tangible of the American grievances as listed in the American Declaration of Independence. The closing of the port of Boston was an arbitrary collective punishment. It aroused widespread resentment, even among those who would not have objected to the punishment of the perpetrators. Merchants and ordinary citizens in other ports along the eastern seaboard were alarmed that their prosperity depended on the whim of a government 3,000 miles away. The tampering with the charter of Massachusetts was an implied threat to the constitution of every other colony. The transferring of trials to England and the Quartering Act, which provided for an increased British military presence in Boston, revived earlier grievances which had been allowed to lie dormant.


Radical elements were able to persuade most Americans that the Quebec Act, which the British had been preparing some months before the Tea Party, was, in fact, an instrument for their further enslavement. New England, where conservative elements were strong outside the Massachusetts trouble centre, was predominantly Puritan. It viewed with alarm the religious freedoms confirmed to the Roman Catholics in Quebec, and regarded them incredibly as the first steps by the Church of England in alliance with the papacy (!) to destroy Puritanism. The more materialist of them objected to the extension of the Canadian frontier to the Ohio. Overall, the combined effect of the Retaliatory Acts and the Quebec Act was to play into the hands of those who wanted to revive the anti-British agitation. They were able to persuade even the moderates that it was deliberate British policy to subjugate and enslave the Americans.


It was the moderates who, fighting off proposals for a solemn league and covenant, successfully promoted the idea of an all-American Congress to meet at Philadelphia in 1774. It was soon taken over by the radicals. Without the Boston Tea Party it would probably never have met. Without the Boston Tea Party its main proposals – to pay no taxes to Britain, and to arm in self-defence – would never have been agreed. The First Continental Congress might just have avoided the breach with Britain if the British had been prepared to negotiate with it. But the British government regarded the Congress as an illegal assembly. It continued to pour troops into Boston; Massachusetts continued to arm its militia. Conflict was the inevitable result; it was not inevitable that there would be a bloody skirmish at Lexington on 19 April 1775, but it was inevitable that fighting would break out somewhere in Massachusetts during the spring of that year. The Boston Tea Party was the catalyst that helped to bring this about.


1:2


The United Empire Loyalists: Abandoned by Both Sides?


The American Revolution was the work of a vociferous minority. The passive majority, especially outside the major towns, had little interest in and less understanding of the struggle; and, unless British troops had actually plundered in their neighbourhood, little interest in the war’s outcome. But there was an active minority, called Tories by the American patriots, and Loyalists (or United Empire Loyalists) by the British, who argued and sometimes fought for the British cause. During the war those Loyalists living in areas under the control of Congress suffered at best ostracism, and at worst tarring and feathering, loss of property and even loss of life. At the end of the war both sides made promises concerning the Loyalists, but whether or not they kept them has long been a matter of considerable controversy.


When Britain confirmed American independence in the peace negotiations, the problem of the Loyalists loomed large. Britain was particularly concerned that Loyalists with homes in the thirteen colonies should be allowed to return, and their properties restored. Thus the Treaty of Versailles (1783) which ended the war recommended ‘to the states the payment of all debts due to British merchants and the passing of relief Acts for the restoration of the property and protection of the persons of the Loyalists’. It was difficult for the states to carry out this promise even if they had wanted to. The divisions of war were too recent and too deep. Returning Loyalists were often subjected to violence, and even when the war was over confiscations of Loyalist property continued. Only South Carolina attempted to carry out the letter of the Treaty; the other states ignored it.


Obviously treatment of the Loyalists in the thirteen states depended much on how strong the area had been for the patriotic cause. Thus some Loyalists returned quietly to their homes, and resumed their businesses without the need for state intervention in the form of relief Acts. But in areas where American patriotism had been strong, life for the Loyalists was intolerable. The British had promised that such people were free to settle in Canada. It was implied that there would be some material assistance in providing the resettlement. In the event there was nothing immediately. It is estimated that 50,000 Loyalists crossed into Canada, and that 50,000 more would have followed if the distances had not been so great. The new Canadians found nothing to succour them. Some dispersed into Nova Scotia and Quebec provinces, found employment and started to rebuild their lives without help. Others, fed by British promises, waited patiently for Britain to honour them. It took a long time, but eventually £12 million was spent in parliamentary grants to Loyalists ‘of all classes and conditions’. To the British parliament, used to low taxation and minimal revenue, this seemed a very large sum; to the many Loyalists in great need it seemed little enough. Despairing of having to wait for spasmodic handouts from parliament, a small but determined group established the port of Halifax on the coast of Nova Scotia in 1791. Its subsequent prosperity was due mainly to the hard work of its inhabitants, and little enough to any generosity on the part of the British government.


It is possible to excuse the new America for its intolerance of the Loyalists, but Britain was slow to show gratitude to those who had risked so much in their defence of British interests. Perhaps anything for them was better than independence, and that is why Loyalists were in the vanguard of those who successfully defended Canada during the 1812–14 War.


1:3


The Irish Famine: Did the English Intend the Irish to Starve?


England is often given the blame for the Irish famine of 1846, and is accused of callously ignoring that country’s plight, while deliberately failing to take the steps necessary to remedy the disaster. The view that British statesmen intentionally left Irishmen to starve is an unjustified slur on men of high probity like Peel and Russell. They were faced with an enormous economic and social disaster. This disaster had its roots in the English conquest of Ireland some centuries earlier, and from the alien system of land tenure resulting from it. But could the famine have been at least as much due to the primitive agricultural methods of the Irish peasantry, the backward state of their whole economy, their innate resistance to change and to the gross over-population from which Ireland was at that time suffering?


The Irish famine had become a disaster of unprecedented magnitude by the summer of 1846, and its after-effects, in terms of epidemics and destitution, continued long after the good harvests of 1847 and 1848. During the worst years over a million died. The famine embittered further the relations between the English and the Irish, and it was an important factor in the Irish demand for self-rule. It was generally believed in Ireland that an Irish government would have handled the famine better than the British government had done – surely it could have done no worse. So arose the widely held belief that the British government had failed to deal effectively with the famine; worse, that the British government had deliberately allowed the famine to rage in order to weaken Ireland and bring it to heel. And it passed into legend that the governments of Sir Robert Peel and Lord John Russell were so influenced by Malthus’s views on population that they regarded a decline in Ireland’s population as inevitable and even desirable, and did little to prevent it. The British government gave credence to these views by publicly apologising in 1998 for the British handling of the famine – an apology based more on political expediency than historical accuracy. How much truth is there in these indictments against the governments of Peel and Russell?


It could be argued that in one sense England was responsible for the famine. England had imposed upon Ireland an alien system of land tenure. Two and a half centuries earlier the English had dispossessed the ruling Irish chieftains and had replaced Irish landholding with a modified form of the landholding practised in England. But whereas in England most tenant farmers held long leases, in Ireland care was taken that tenants held land on short leases, or, as tenants-at-will, on no leases at all. Thus when tenants on short leases improved their land it gave their landlords the incentive to rack up the rents. After all, improved land was in demand and would command much higher returns. While the main crop was grain it was necessary for tenants to keep their land in full cultivation, but the introduction of the potato brought a dramatic change. It was a crop which could feed a family for a year on 20 per cent of the acreage necessary for a family dependent on oats or wheat. So a tenant farmer could leave much of his land uncultivated, allow his outbuildings to fall into rack and ruin, and keep a few animals to sell to pay the rent. This would be kept low by the poor and neglected state of his holding. Landless labourers would still work for the landowner, growing corn largely for export to England, but the tenant farmer would subsist virtually entirely on the potato which could provide almost all his nutritional needs. The potato came into widespread use in the second half of the eighteenth century. By 1845 it is reliably estimated that half of Ireland’s eight million population was totally dependent upon it.


There had been partial failures of the potato crop before 1845, and these had necessitated widespread relief measures. But no one anticipated a disaster of the magnitude of 1845–6. Peel’s Conservative government became alarmed when potato blight appeared in England in August 1845. Two experts, Dr Lyon Playfair and Professor Lindley, reported in late October that the situation was very serious, and that Ireland’s potato harvest would be less than half of normal. They recommended drying potatoes in kilns, and applying chemical preservatives. These remedies were useless, but time was wasted in trying them. Since Peel received the report in late October there was some complacency in that most of the potatoes had already been harvested and were in store. So at first there was scepticism about the gravity of the situation. But potatoes taken from store were often found to be rotten, and Peel’s public utterances showed from the beginning that he recognised not only the extreme seriousness of the situation, but also that it was the government’s responsibility to deal with the famine, regardless of the laisser-faire notions current at the time. Peel decided to suspend the Corn Laws as early as November, but some of his aristocratic allies thought the Corn Law crisis had been drummed up for political reasons and that the rotten potato had become a political vegetable. One royal duke went so far as to assert that rotten potatoes mixed with grass made a very nutritious meal.


But this callous indifference did not represent the policy of the government. The Irish clamoured for a ban on corn exports. The English corn harvest had failed, while the Irish one was only a little below normal. Wagons taking corn to the ports while the Irish countryside starved necessitated the use of troops to guard them. But Peel thought that banning corn exports would solve nothing. It would ruin the landowners, some of whom were trying to help their tenants, and its retention for sale in Ireland would avail little as the Irish could not afford to buy it. Moreover, to aggravate the corn shortage in England by banning Irish corn imports would have been politically suicidal and in Peel’s view unhelpful. He proposed other measures. He scoured Southern Europe to buy disease-free seed potatoes for the spring sowing. Even so, 75 per cent of the 1846 potato harvest was lost. Soup kitchens were set up in Irish towns and accessible Irish villages. These had the double motive of bringing succour to the starving and attempting to wean the Irish off their dependence on the potato. He secretly ordered maize to the value of £160,000 from the USA and sold it openly to the Irish peasantry at 1d per pound. To the peasant brought up on potato, maize savoured of animal feed and was unpleasant to the taste – it was nicknamed ‘Peel’s brimstone’. But the Irish were soon glad enough to eat it. To help the destitute pay for the maize and other available foods, Peel set up, through the Board of Works, a programme of relief works, such as drainage, railway construction and road improvements. Over £½ million was spent on this in 1846, but it was ineffective. Starving men could not cope with heavy labour. The officials in charge had no experience of dealing with famine; the few that had experienced it in India were still there. Some 15,000 officials were required in a matter of a few weeks, and many unsatisfactory appointments were made. There was much jobbery and corruption.


Even more was spent on relief works in 1847, but in March, rather tardily, Russell’s government gave the Irish Boards of Guardians permission to grant outdoor relief. Ireland’s workhouses were being swamped. The harvest of 1847 was good and showed little sign of blight, yet in many ways 1847 was the worst famine year. Infectious disease was always endemic in Ireland, and after nearly two years of deprivation diseases such as typhus took a heavy toll. It is impossible to state with accuracy how many died of disease and how many of starvation. It was not usual Irish practice to carry out post-mortems on bodies that had been lying undiscovered for weeks in remote districts. The lack of railways and the poor state of Irish roads meant that some areas were virtually untouched by relief efforts. But it is estimated that typhus killed 350,000 in 1847 alone, and tuberculosis resulting from the famine was still killing its victims into the 1850s. The best estimates suggest that, during the years 1845–51, ¼ million died of starvation, 1 million died of disease and 300,000 emigrated. At its height in the spring of 1847 3 million of Ireland’s 8 million were in receipt of some form of public relief. Of the one-third of Irish landlords who were ruined by the famine, many had lost everything by showing a duty to their tenants. They were soon to be replaced by absentee landlords interested only in maximising their rent rolls.


England was not indifferent to Ireland’s plight. £7 million of public funds was spent on government relief efforts. Public subscription and private charities substantially supplemented the government’s contribution. With annual British government expenditure in excess of £50 million an allocation of a little more than 2 per cent to Ireland at the height of famine seems inadequate. Yet the Irish famine could not easily have been solved by throwing more money at it. Distribution of relief suffered from inadequate roads and the absence of railways. It lacked honest and experienced officials. Attempts to distribute relief were often met by sullen resentment, suspicion and hostility from those the goverment was trying to help. Time was wasted on useless measures to deal with and prevent the spread of blight. And in the mid-1840s there were no magic bullets for the prevention and cure of epidemic disease. It is thus somewhat churlish to question the humanitarian motives of Peel’s and Russell’s governments. Neither government would have wanted so many deaths on their conscience. They floundered, and they possibly did too little, too late, but the famine was more the result of natural agents than human ones.
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President Jackson and the Indians: Peaceful Emigration or Bloody Removal?


President Jackson, the tough, wiry frontiersman who was elected President in 1828, is often credited with ending the Indian threat to the supremacy of the white man by peacefully moving thousands of native tribesmen westwards over the Mississippi river. Does he deserve his heroic reputation?


Nearly 20,000 members of the Tsalagi tribe (known to Englishspeaking Americans as the ‘Cherokee’) had been guaranteed ownership of their tribal lands, first by George Washington in 1794, and later by a series of more than ninety treaties with their chiefs, the most important of which was agreed in 1798. They were among the most enlightened groups of native Americans in the south-east: they cultivated gardens and orchards, they engaged in trade and manufacture, they had a written language with which nearly all of them were conversant, and they developed schools, a newspaper and even a written constitution of their own. The area of land they were allowed, chiefly in Georgia, but also in nearby Alabama and Mississippi, was steadily whittled down by White encroachment from nearly 50,000 square miles to a mere 15,000 by 1828, when the state legislature of Georgia extended its remit over the whole area, thus effectively ending Cherokee independence. Jackson, now President, had as his main political constituency the rough, tough pioneers of the West and South, and was known to them already as the man who had repulsed the landing of the English at New Orleans in 1815. He agreed with the settlers’ intention to expel the Indians from Federal territory, and had already fought against the Indians in the battle of Horseshoe Creek in Alabama in 1814. He promised a peaceful removal, but those who knew him recognised that his description of their movement as an ‘emigration’ was a euphemistic way of describing their harsh and often bloody removal.


In 1830, Jackson passed a Removal Bill through Congress, and began to use state militiamen to force the Cherokee from their homes. Opinion in the Eastern states was distinctly critical of Jackson’s policy, and this gave the Cherokee some offer of hope. Their chief attempted to bring their plight to the attention of the Supreme Court, only to have his action disbarred on the grounds that the Indians were a ‘domestic dependent nation’ and therefore not able to plead. A second action, brought by a Vermont missionary against the State of Georgia, was more successful. It declared the Removal Law unconstitutional, an action which infuriated Jackson and Southern opinion generally, and which both of them effectively ignored. Martial law was proclaimed, and the Cherokee continued to be expelled. Pressure on them mounted until their leaders were forced to sign another treaty in 1835 agreeing to cede to the Federal government the last of their lands and to move to what is now Oklahoma. The US Senate debated this treaty long and hard, and eventually ratified it by a majority of one. By 1838, fewer than 2,000 Cherokee still remained in Georgia, and Martin van Buren, Jackson’s successor, declared to Congress that ‘the measures authorised by Congress in the last session . . . have had the happiest effect’ and that ‘the Cherokees have migrated without apparent reluctance’ to their new homes.


A punitive expedition some years earlier against the Seminole Indians of Florida had produced an even more serious outcome, and resulted in the destruction of their homes, the deaths or migration of thousands of them, and the capture by the Whites of their chief, Osceola, while bearing a flag of truce.


Jackson’s actions in Florida were murderous, and the enforced moving of nearly 20,000 native American people over a distance of some 800 miles on foot or by wagons and teams, though achieved in a relatively short time and without a great deal of bloodshed, hardly conformed to the notion of a voluntary national emigration, and certainly did not reflect the credit on Jackson that he claimed.
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CONSPIRACIES AND PLOTS


Did the Dauphin Perish in the French Revolution?


The idea that during the Revolution, the son of Louis XVI escaped the clutches of the Revolutionaries and survived into manhood exercised compelling influence on many nineteenth-century minds.


In the years after the Terror the story developed that the young Dauphin, who automatically became King Louis XVII of France on the execution of his father in 1793, had somehow managed to survive the dank filth of the Temple and the crude ministrations of the Paris cobbler and his wife who were his jailers, and had made his escape to freedom. The story was sometimes elaborated with the suggestion that Robespierre himself had taken pity on the boy and connived at his flight. The boy was supposed to have been brought up in obscurity in the French countryside and only later found out that he was the rightful king. After 1815 a number of royal claimants, including a stable boy and a Prussian clockmaker, came forward as pretenders. The latter was so convincing that he was recognised by the now rather elderly Versailles maid who had attended the young prince, secured acceptance by King Louis Philippe and received a small pension from him, though he later died in obscurity and was buried in 1840 at Delft in Holland beneath the epitaph ‘Here Lies Louis XVII, Duke of Normandy, King of France and of Navarre.’ The idea of a dramatic escape from his jailers was later taken up by Baroness d’Orczy, who described the episode in the Scarlet Pimpernel stories, where she alleged that the boy had been whisked away to his relatives in Austria.


The truth is less exciting, though scarcely less incredible. The royal prince, always a delicate child, had succumbed to tuberculosis in the damp conditions of his cell at the age of ten, in 1795, and was buried under the name of Louis Charles Capet in a mass grave. Before the interment there had been an inquest, and the doctor in question, a man by the name of Pelletan, a royalist, had filched the heart at the autopsy, concealed it in his handkerchief and later passed it to the then Archbishop of Paris, who kept it in a jar until his cathedral was attacked and looted in the 1830 Revolution. The jar was smashed, Pelletan’s son picked up the mummified remains of the heart, and himself kept it in a crystal urn. It was subjected to DNA tests in 1999, and samples compared with his mother’s hair, that of two of her sisters, and the hair of two of the family’s living relatives.


The tests proved beyond all reasonable doubt that the Dauphin had in fact died in 1795, and the heart was his. There had been in the previous century two different excavations of the grave in which his remains had been placed, and on both occasions the bones were said to have belonged to a much older boy of about seventeen. The DNA tests, however, are now accepted by nearly everybody as being definitive.


2:2


The Carbonari: Patriots or Brigands?


The story of Italian Unification has long lent itself to romanticisation. Mazzini, Cavour, Victor Emmanuel, Garibaldi, even Pius IX have been subjected to literary treatment which would make them unrecognisable even to themselves. And the Carbonari, long regarded as the founding fathers of Italian nationalism have not been spared. The oft-repeated picture is of intellectuals and liberals persecuted for their beliefs, taking shelter against the cold of Italy’s winter nights with the charcoal burners in their mountain huts. There, with the purest of motives, they could dream of an Italy freed from foreign domination. An eminent historian could write, in 1939, that (in the 1820s) ‘secret societies, chief of them that of the Carbonari, were formed everywhere to work for the union of Italy’. And in explaining the failure of the Carbonari such historians would point out that their weakness was their very idealism; they lacked the practical skills and organisation to bring their aims to fulfilment. This idealised picture of the Carbonari and their aims needs considerable modification.


In the first place it is wrong to suppose that the Italian revolutionary movements of the 1820s were all led by Carbonari. Such societies were not formed everywhere. The main area in which they operated was in the Kingdom of Naples with some overspill into the central Duchies and the Romagna. The early insurgents in Piedmont were not Carbonari but ‘federati’ and lacked even the most tenuous links with them. Moreover, the Carbonari of Naples were by no means all liberal and nationalist idealists. There were, of course, numbers of middle-class intellectuals in their ranks, but in origin the Carbonari were members of secret societies, taking their inspiration (and sometimes their secret signs and passwords) from freemasonry. Such societies attracted not only idealists, but also adventurers, who were in it not for the cause but for the excitement. And it was not surprising that, especially in Naples where banditry and organised crime were rife, there should be some leavening of those who used the Carbonari as a cover for their kidnappings, robberies and murders. But it does not follow that the Neapolitan bandits were all members of or supporters of the Carbonari; banditry and revolutionary fervour were usually distinctly separate, even in Naples. Of course all revolutionaries who resort to arms are regarded by the authorities as terrorists, and the Neapolitan authorities knew how to exploit the unsavoury backgrounds and activities of some of the local Carbonari. Had they all been bandits they most certainly would not have been able to bring the Neapolitan government to its knees in 1820. In contrast, a few of the lower clergy sometimes became involved with the Carbonari; even Pius IX was rumoured to have belonged to a Carbonarist group in his youth.


Were the Carbonari patriots? In the sense that one of their most consistent aims was to remove foreign influence and the domination of Austria, then they were. In Naples this took the form of a desire to undermine the power of the Spanish Bourbon ruler. But the Neapolitan revolt of 1820 was more concerned to extract a liberal constitution, and one based on the Spanish constitution of 1812, rather than the overthrow of Ferdinand I himself. In the Duchies where the rulers were Austrian, imposed by the Treaty of Vienna, the Carbonari did aim to expel their foreign rulers. So the patriotism of most Carbonari extended to supporting and maintaining the independence of the existing Italian states; they were fierce in their patriotic loyalty to an independent Tuscany, or a restored Lombardy or Venice. But there is no evidence that the Carbonari aimed at a united Italy. Each Carbonarist group had its own limited and local aims. They all wanted an end to political repression. They all wanted a share in political power and an end to absolutism. And they all wanted the foreigners out. But what would remain would be the old mosaic of Italian states which had been Italy’s lot since the Middle Ages. It was not their purpose to redraw the map of Italy, or to hand it over to Piedmontese domination. For the vast majority of groups the pursuit of limited local aims more often than not took precedence over the more profitable pursuit of felony, but Mazzini saw their weakness, and when he founded his ‘Young Italy’ in 1831 he was not trying to carry on the work of the Carbonari; he was attempting very different aims with much more sophisticated methods.
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The Maine: Who Blew it Up?


One of the great legends of American history is that America’s war against Spain in 1898 was justified because the Spaniards had deliberately blown up an American warship. From this interpretation it follows that the Americans went to war with reluctance but they had no choice in view of the provocation and that American annexations after the war were not examples of American imperialism in action but just recompense for Spain’s infamy. All this is legendary nonsense, but was current at the time, and lingers on even now in a few popular texts.


On 15 February 1898 the American battleship, the Maine, blew up in Havana harbour with the loss of 2 officers and 258 men. The ship had been at Havana for three weeks, where it had been keeping a close eye on the Cuban insurrection against Spain, and was also intended to give reassurance to American citizens still in Cuba. The sinking revived war fever in America which had subsided after the recall of General Weyler, notorious for his harsh treatment of Cuban rebels. The American press blamed Spain for this sinking, and raised the cry of ‘Remember the Maine’. On 25 April the USA declared war upon Spain: almost all America believed that the sinking justified the war declaration. But was Spain responsible for the sinking?


It seems most unlikely that the Spaniards would have deliberately provoked the Americans into war in this way. What could they have possibly hoped to gain by it? Their whole purpose had been to avoid antagonising the USA. Indeed only six days before the sinking the Spanish ambassador in Washington had been recalled to Madrid after an American outcry over some incautious anti-American remarks he had made in a private letter. Even if the Spaniards had regarded American intervention as inevitable, sinking the Maine would have had little military justification and in any case could have been postponed until war was actually declared. Cuban insurgents might have had a better reason for blowing up the Maine. In this way they could have ensured American entry into the war, and thus made Cuban independence a near certainty: but there is no evidence to support this contention.


At the time of the disaster the captain of the Maine warned against jumping to hasty conclusions. But an immediate American court of naval inquiry found that the Maine had been blown up as a result of an external explosion, thus implicating either the Spaniards, whom the Americans naturally regarded as the villains, or the Cubans. The Spanish court of inquiry found that the ship had blown up as a result of an internal explosion, thus exonerating both the Spaniards, and the Cubans, whom it might have been in Spanish interests to implicate.


Little was made of the suggestion that Cuban insurgents in the guise of dock labourers might have smuggled the explosives on board. The Maine was raised in 1911 and the original American findings were said to have been corroborated, thus giving a new lease of life to the legend without offering any substantial proof. It still seems most likely that the explosion was caused by faulty ammunition in the ship’s magazine, or by an explosive mixture of air and coal dust in the fuel hold. But the sinking had served its purpose in justifying an American expansionist war, and even today the legend of the sinking, while moribund, still stubbornly refuses to die.
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The Boer War: Was it an Imperialist Plot?


The Boer War, between the formerly Dutch settlers of the Cape of South Africa, and British and Empire troops fighting for the British government, has aroused popular feelings on both sides throughout the twentieth century. Though much of the indignation the war generated has mellowed with the passing of time, widely different views are still held about it.


The official attitude of the British government towards the war was studiously moderate, though there was background clamour in the press and elsewhere of a raucous and rather unpleasant imperialism. The views of Chamberlain and his cabinet colleagues such as Lord Lansdowne were undoubtedly imperialist, but were generally cloaked in civilised and moderate language. These were seemingly in harmony with those of Sir Alfred (later Viscount) Milner, appointed in 1897 as High Commissioner for South Africa, who, while he was somewhat lacking in diplomatic finesse, had an acute and finely tuned legal mind. They were all of the view that, though the formal mention of the contentious word ‘suzerainty’ agreed by the Pretoria Convention of 1881 to describe British authority over the Boer republics had been withdrawn in the London Convention of 1884, the material details of British overlordship were exactly the same as before, so that Britain had not only the right but even the duty to act as final arbiter in Boer affairs. In a number of ways the conduct of Paul Kruger, the elderly President of the Transvaal (and known to his loyal people by the affectionate name of ‘Uncle Paul’), was genuinely believed to be unacceptable: he mistreated his substantial minority of foreign immigrants, or Uitlanders, including over 30,000 British subjects, whom he overtaxed and disfranchised; he held his black native peoples in absolute contempt; and he seemed determined to arm himself to the teeth with war material imported via Delagoa Bay in Portuguese East Africa. The flow of these armaments rocketed from little more than £60,000 per annum in 1895 to over £250,000 in 1897; he spent £1.5 million on the building of forts and on heavy artillery; and, most sinister of all, undertook the engagement of German military specialists as advisers.


Kruger refused to supply any satisfactory explanation for his armament drive, and failed to remedy the grievances of the Uitlanders. Hence, when the Uitlander Petition of March 1899 appealed to Queen Victoria to relieve the plight of British immigrants, the British government felt obliged to take up their case. Tedious negotiations in Bloemfontein in the first week of May revealed Milner at his most precise and pedantic, and Kruger at his most devious and obstructive. Repeated efforts were made between July and September to avoid conflict, but all of them broke down. The notion began to grow that Kruger was merely playing for time until the South African campaigning season began.


After the outbreak of war, the British government speedily discovered the practical difficulties of conducting a war with little more than 50,000 unseasoned troops at a range of over 6,000 miles and against an agile and determined enemy. Britain suffered a number of disastrous reverses, culminating in ‘Black Week’ in early December 1899, when three senior British generals, Gatacre, Methuen and Buller, were defeated in the field and Boer sieges of the towns of Kimberley, Ladysmith and Mafeking, recently undertaken, were intensified to force them into an early surrender. The Kaiser disrespectfully wired his grandmother, Queen Victoria, advising her to take these defeats in the ‘same spirit of fortitude’ as England had taken the ‘recent defeats in the Test series’. Once again, the Queen was not amused.


The appointment of Lord Roberts as British commander-in-chief, however, led to a swift change of fortune. In the spring and early summer of 1900, the beleaguered towns were relieved and British forces, substantially reinforced by several contingents of empire troops, entered Bloemfontein, Johannesburg and Pretoria. By August the war was as good as over, and in September Kruger fled into Portuguese territory. Only the stubbornness of the Boer volunteers enabled them to continue fighting. The final phase of the war, which went on from mid-1900 until peace was finally signed at Vereeniging in May 1902, was a guerrilla war, and proved to be the most costly and contentious. Popping up here and there unexpectedly, guerrilla bands, or ‘commandos’ as they were called, with powerful but mobile armament and with the sympathy of the bulk of the civilian population, harassed the thinly spread occupying army, carrying off substantial booty and damaging railways and other communications. The only way to counter this threat was to clear the countryside by ‘concentrating’ the population into temporary camps and carrying out wide sweeps of large areas to isolate, pin down and defeat the guerrilla forces. Sadly these ‘concentration camps’ (a name deriving from the Spanish-American War and later to be attached to the notorious camps in which twentieth-century dictators punished political opponents and annihilated minority groups) soon got themselves a bad name. As sometimes happens when the military are given a job outside their normal competence, the management of the camps was grossly inefficient. Food was poor and scanty, sanitation was primitive, and disease was rife. Of about 120,000 inmates of the camps, nearly 30,000 died, about 22,000 of them under sixteen years old. Of the total of inmates nearly 100,000 detainees were black Africans who were shut up in eighteen separate camps. Before the end of the war, about 18,000 of these were dead, and were buried clandestinely in unmarked graves. It took the work of an Englishwoman, Emily Hobhouse, and an influential committee of relief, to draw the attention of Chamberlain and the government to the abuses of the camps, and to install civilian instead of military supervision there. Only after ten years of hostility did relations between Boers and British begin to improve.


It should be observed that not all the outrages were perpetrated by the British side. Much of the Boer shelling of the beleaguered towns was indiscriminate and was intended to terrorise and destroy the civilian populations; while, during the guerrilla phase, the attacks of one of their leaders, de Wet, on the waterworks at Sennaspos was intended to promote the spread of enteric fever among the citizens of Bloemfontein. The most savage of the fury of the Boers was saved for the so-called ‘Joiners’, Boers who fought on the British side. But neither side saw fit to criticise this conduct at the time; indeed both seemed to find it quite acceptable.


Public attitudes in Britain were widely varied. The more extreme and jingoistic of the imperialists, whose attitudes were mirrored in the popular press, breathed fire against the Boers. To them the empire was sacred, and the affronts against it in South Africa intolerable.


People sang lewd songs about Kruger (whose name was given a soft ‘g’ and made to rhyme with ‘screwed yer’) and went into wild transports of delight at the relief of Mafeking. On the other hand there was a substantial body of opinion resolutely opposed to the war. Gladstone was now dead, but radical Liberals, including his biographer John Morley and Lloyd George, continued with his anti-empire policy in the face of Lord Rosebery and the ‘Liberal-imperialist’ wing, and soon became known as ‘pro-Boers’. Even the subtle Chamberlain knew he could not safely fly in the face of such a body of opinion, and with Balfour, Hicks Beach and even Salisbury himself consciously moderated his anti-Boer tone. The ‘pro-Boers’ agreed (though for quite different reasons) with the Marxist belief that the war arose from an expansionist desire to acquire overseas lands and to exploit their natural resources to boost Britain’s own economy. It was Rhodes’s South Africa Company, in their view, and its drive for gold and diamonds that had led to Kruger’s suspicions of Britain and his desire to protect himself and his people against encroachment. Rhodes himself was regarded with some ambivalence as an enthusiastic flag-waver and a ruthless tycoon who was preferable as an ally rather than as an enemy. Liberals’ mistrust of militarism soon combined with their anti-imperialism in their criticisms of the campaigns in South Africa, and these were later reinforced by their humanitarian instincts when the horrors of the concentration camps were revealed to the public. All this helps to explain the determination of the Liberals after 1906 to deal fairly with the vanquished South Africa – to the point when many said that South Africa had lost the war but in the first years of the twentieth century were able to win the peace.


Boer opinion was very much aggrieved by the war. They had tried earlier to escape from British domination, but without success. At the time of the Great Trek in 1836, like the American pioneers, they had migrated in their covered wagons determined not so much to cross the great prairies as to escape from Cape Colony to form new settlements not under British authority. Later, they had established their freedom from British control by the Sand River Convention of 1852, only to find it whittled away after the Zulu War by the Pretoria Convention in 1881. When the British authorities dropped the dreaded word ‘suzerainty’ from the convention in 1884, the Boers imagined that at last they were free.


But Britain had by no means surrendered its imperial plans. When diamonds were found in Griqualand West in 1867, and gold discovered in the Transvaal in 1886, colonialist greed had again raised its ugly head. Imperialist ambitions had revived. Unwelcome prospectors and miners, many of them in the Boer view the scum of the earth, had poured in and set about mining in their country. The Boers, whose simple, rural, backward-looking way of life was disrupted by these events, regretted the new strains put upon them. They hated the new capitalist pressures and blamed all their evils on them.


In the Boers, xenophobia combined with latent anti-semitism to focus on ‘Guggenheim’, the greasy foreign Jewish capitalist portrayed in cartoons, symbolising greed and commercialism. Kruger, a boy of eleven at the time of the Great Trek, epitomised their feelings when he swore to have no truck with the Uitlanders and to keep the blacks in their proper place. He feared and mistrusted Rhodes’s plans, first to take over Mashonaland and Matabeleland in the north and then Bechuanaland in the west. It seemed to him that the imperialists were trying to surround him. Kruger was once asked how he would kill a tortoise, and he replied in his guttural farmer’s voice, ‘I’d wait for him to put his head out – and then I’d chop it off!’ Hence the Boers moved swiftly and effectively against Jameson at the time of his luckless Raid. And, as far as Kruger was concerned, the need for preparedness was the whole reason for his drive for armaments. A stubborn refusal to cooperate with the British and a profound mistrust of their intentions underlies the whole of his protracted negotiations with them in 1899, and his preference for war instead of surrender.


During the war, the enduring Afrikaner image is of the noble Boer, armed only with rifle, biltong and slouch hat, fighting against a brutal invader who pillaged his farmstead and starved his wife and family to death behind barbed wire, until necessity forced him to give in. Finally, however, overwhelming military might won the day and, after Vereeniging, the Boer leadership sought by guile what they had been unable to achieve by armed force. That same Milner who had jostled the Boer republics into war set himself the task after 1902 of rehabilitating them. He envisaged a line of self-governing settler communities stretching from the Cape to the Zambesi, federated together and leavened by a large injection of British immigration and British capital, the Whites living in peace among the mass of African natives, who were fairly treated. The Boers went along with this, while retaining their private opinions of the ‘Kaffirs’. They suspected that instead of superior British practice in handling natives shaming the Boers into improving their own treatment of them, with good driving out bad, as Milner hoped, bad would drive out good. The emergence of systematic apartheid in the middle years of the twentieth century shows that this is very much what in fact took place. Only the permissiveness of the Treaty of Vereeniging and the generosity of the British South Africa Act in 1909–10 allowed this to happen, and allowed native rights, under the new South African constitution, to remain inadequately entrenched.


Black South African opinion generally tried to stand aloof from the conflict between Briton and Boer. They created the popular myth that the Boer War was a conflict between the two White tribes in which the coloured population had little other than spectator interest. From the beginning the British and the Boers had a tacit understanding that armed Black auxiliaries should not be used in what they regarded as a ‘White Man’s War’. However, it was never true that the war did not concern the native Africans. British colonial policy was always more enlightened towards the natives (perhaps because it was further away from them) than were the Boers, and Britain never had any intention to bar them from political enfranchisement in the way the Boers did. During the war, too, the British had less hesitation in arming the natives than the Boers. Whatever their seniors may have said, junior officers in the field employed them in numerous ways. Black troops formed part of the defensive garrisons of the beleaguered towns, even though their rations were only a fraction of those of the Whites – perhaps they were supposed to get food in ways unknown to their White comrades. Relying on their local knowledge, too, the British employed numbers of native scouts. But once the Boer commandos began castrating and killing Black captives, the British had no option but to arm them. By the end of the war there were 30,000 armed Black auxiliaries in the British forces. Furthermore, the Boers themselves placed great reliance on their natives, both in combatant and non-combatant roles. Some South African historians now estimate that up to 10,000 natives were willing to fight for their Boer masters, however little they were promised at the end of the war. But at the end of the war in the negotiations at Vereeniging, the Blacks were denied any voice. Those who thought the British would restore lands to them earlier taken by the Boers were disappointed. The Blacks got no more from the British than from the Boers. Thus to say that the natives were merely neutral onlookers in the war, or recognised at the end of it, is at best a simplification of the truth.


On balance, it seems likely that the commonly held view that the war was the outcome of a British imperialist plot to take over, by force if necessary, the gold and diamonds found in South Africa is not the full story, any more than is the traditional patriotic view that the war sprang from Kruger’s stubborn refusal to play his allotted role in Britain’s plans for a South African empire. On the other side of the picture, the myth of the noble Briton, inspired by a disinterested concern for the advance of the human race, is somewhat tarnished by the recollection of the concentration camps, just as the myth of the noble Boer, fighting for survival and to escape from tyranny, is tarnished by the carefully concealed atrocities for which he was responsible, and by the world’s later experience of the brutal excesses of apartheid. Nor can the war any longer be regarded as of no consequence for the African peoples themselves. In fact, in its causes and events, the war was a product of the aspirations and the mistakes of both sides; and involved the deaths of many thousands of Africans. And while some Africans may have felt themselves uninvolved in it, the effects of the war were to weigh heavy on the whole of the Black population of South Africa for the greater part of the ensuing century.


2:5


The Sarajevo Assassination: Did Serbia Aim to Bring About War?


The murders of the Archduke Francis Ferdinand and his wife Sophie, shot in Sarajevo, the capital of Bosnia, on 28 June 1914, by Gavrilo Princip, a Serbian activist, were reputedly the cause of the outbreak of the First World War, and gave rise to the legend that Serbian provocation lay at the root of the war. Superficially there was something to be said for such a view. Princip, a nineteen-year-old Bosnian-Serb student, was a member of the secret nationalist movement Young Bosnia (Mlada Bosna), and had used a pistol in the assassination supplied by the Serbian terrorist body known as the Black Hand (whose motto was Ujedinjenje ili Smrt – ‘Unity or death’), which was recruited from radical young Serbian army officers intent on uniting their co-nationals living in the Austrian and Turkish empires with those in Serbia itself. The Austrians, believing that the Serbian government had instigated the plot, sought the consent and approval of their allies, the Germans, for their actions, and after the lapse of a month sent a swingeing ultimatum to Belgrade on 23 July. When this was rejected they declared war on Serbia on 28 July, so setting in train the sequence of events that led to the outbreak of the First World War.


None of the above facts is actually wrong, but nevertheless taken together they gave rise to an entirely misleading picture of the coming of the war. The Austrians saw the war not as the outcome of a series of events set into logical motion by a chance accident; they believed it to have been brought about by a deliberate plot. This ‘Austrian interpretation’ appeared to be reinforced by Serbia’s recent aggressive wars in the Balkans, 1912–14, and by the often violent and turbulent character of Serbian politics. This view served to shift the main burden of responsibility for the war away from Vienna and Berlin and onto the shoulders of Serbia, now branded as the most militant of the minor powers in the Balkans. In reality the truth was not so simple.


Princip, hot-headed and painfully young, was hardly the stuff from which either heroes or international wars are made – indeed, he was too young for the death penalty, but languished for four years in an Austrian fortress before his death in April 1918 at the age of twenty-three. Neither were the many secret societies with which the Balkans were teeming at this time much of a threat to anybody, except – through their rashness – possibly to themselves. Nor was any shred of evidence later produced to justify the Austrian assertion that the Serbian government was behind the plot, even though a most rigorous investigation under close Austrian supervision was afterwards made. Indeed, quite the contrary. The Serbian government had been quite exhausted by its recent wars and had not yet completed its army reorganisation after their conclusion. Hence it was simply unready for war, and made genuine efforts to warn the Austrians against the Archduke’s visit before it occurred. In early June they informed Bilinski, the Austrian minister in charge of the imperial administration of Bosnia, of the risks that the Archduke was taking: his visit would be deeply offensive to Serbian national feelings and might even result in an attempt being made on his life – an admission later interpreted by the Austrians as evidence of their foreknowledge. The Serbian government, furthermore, though it was innocent of the charges of complicity brought against it by the Austrians, returned the meekest and most submissive of responses to the outrageous ultimatum fired off at it by Vienna, accepting eight out of ten of its points and offering to negotiate about the remaining two, even though they involved the complete surrender of Serbia’s position as a proud and independent nation. And finally it placed no obstacles in the way of a judicial inquiry into the affair afterwards, even though this inquiry was conducted largely by Austrian officials. In short, it swallowed its pride and did all it could do to avert war.
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